1998

Utah v. James Scott Wallburg : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.law.byu.edu/byu_ca2



Part of the [Law Commons](#)

Original Brief Submitted to the Utah Court of Appeals; digitized by the Howard W. Hunter Law Library, J. Reuben Clark Law School, Brigham Young University, Provo, Utah; machine-generated OCR, may contain errors.

Jeffrey S. Gray; Assistant Attorney General; Attorneys for Appellee.

Ms. Gene S. Byrge; Attorney for Appellant.

Recommended Citation

Brief of Appellant, *Utah v. Wallburg*, No. 981871 (Utah Court of Appeals, 1998).
https://digitalcommons.law.byu.edu/byu_ca2/1945

This Brief of Appellant is brought to you for free and open access by BYU Law Digital Commons. It has been accepted for inclusion in Utah Court of Appeals Briefs by an authorized administrator of BYU Law Digital Commons. Policies regarding these Utah briefs are available at http://digitalcommons.law.byu.edu/utah_court_briefs/policies.html. Please contact the Repository Manager at hunterlawlibrary@byu.edu with questions or feedback.

IN THE UTAH COURT OF APPEALS

THE STATE OF UTAH :
 :
 Plaintiff/Appellee, : 7th District Ct. No. 951701390
 :
 v. : Court of Appeals No. 981871-CA
 :
 JAMES SCOTT WALLBERG, :
 :
 Defendant/Appellant. :
 :

**SECOND SUPPLEMENTAL BRIEF
OF APPELLANT**

**AN APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION FOR UNLAWFUL POSSESSION
OF CONTRABAND IN A CORRECTIONAL FACILITY, A THIRD DEGREE FELONY, IN
VIOLATION OF UTAH CODE ANN. §76-8-311.3 (SUPP. 1994), IN THE 7TH DISTRICT
COURT FOR EMERY COUNTY, HON. BRUCE K. HALLIDAY PRESIDING.**

Ms. Gene S. Byrge - Bar No. 8313
The Judge Building, Suite 740
8 East Broadway
Salt Lake City, Utah 84111-2204
Telephone: 801/363-0940
Facsimile: 801/363-1338
Attorney for Defendant/Appellant

Jeffrey S. Gray
Assistant Attorney General
P.O. Box 140854
Salt Lake City UT 84114-0854
Attorney for Plaintiff/Appellee

FILED
Utah Court of Appeals

FEB 17 2001

IN THE UTAH COURT OF APPEALS

THE STATE OF UTAH	:	
	:	7 th District Ct. No. 951701390
Plaintiff/Appellee,	:	
	:	Court of Appeals No. 981871-CA
v.	:	
JAMES SCOTT WALLBERG,	:	
	:	
Defendant/Appellant.	:	

**SECOND SUPPLEMENTAL BRIEF
OF APPELLANT**

AN APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION FOR UNLAWFUL POSSESSION OF CONTRABAND IN A CORRECTIONAL FACILITY, A THIRD DEGREE FELONY, IN VIOLATION OF UTAH CODE ANN. §76-8-311.3 (SUPP. 1994), IN THE 7TH DISTRICT COURT FOR EMERY COUNTY, HON. BRUCE K. HALLIDAY PRESIDING.

Ms. Gene S. Byrge - Bar No. 8313
The Judge Building, Suite 740
8 East Broadway
Salt Lake City, Utah 84111-2204
Telephone: 801/363-0940
Facsimile: 801/363-1338
Attorney for Defendant/Appellant

Jeffrey S. Gray
Assistant Attorney General
P.O. Box 140854
Salt Lake City UT 84114-0854

Attorney for Plaintiff/Appellee

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Table of Authorities ii

Supplementary Argument 1

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT DETERMINED APPELLANT WAS INDIGENT AND REFUSED TO PROVIDE HIM WITH COURT-APPOINTED COUNSEL, THUS VIOLATING HIS RIGHT TO COURT APPOINTED COUNSEL UNDER UTAH LAW AND THE SIXTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION.

Conclusion 5

Relief Sought 6

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases:

State v Vincent, 883 P.2d 278 (Ut. 1994) 4, 5, 6

Kelsey v Hanson, 818 P.2d 590 (Ut. App. 1990) 4, 5, 6

Statutes:

Utah Code Annotated §77-32-202(3)(i) 4

Utah Code Annotated §77-32-202(3)(ii) 4

SECOND SUPPLEMENTAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

This brief is filed pursuant to this Court's order of December 28, 2000.

SUPPLEMENTARY ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT DETERMINED APPELLANT WAS INDIGENT AND REFUSED TO PROVIDE HIM WITH COURT-APPOINTED COUNSEL, THUS VIOLATING HIS RIGHT TO COURT APPOINTED COUNSEL UNDER UTAH LAW AND THE SIXTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION.

The trial court refused to appoint counsel for Defendant Wallberg in the instant case, believing his income was adequate for Defendant to hire his own counsel. Defendant indicated that his income was barely adequate to provide Defendant with food, shelter, and medication for the condition for which he received Social Security Disability income, which cost him three to four hundred dollars per month. (Transcript, Initial Appearance, P8 L9). The Court indicated "Well, a lot of legal counsel will take a lean [*sic*] on—on your check or whatever to—to see that it's paid. There—there's procedures that you can agree to that you can make—that you can make contractual agreements with counsel so that they're—so that they're assured of some payment." (Transcript, Initial Appearance, P14 L19).

First, an attorney, like any other creditor, cannot place a lien against a Social Security check, but can only hope to attach that money after it is deposited into a bank account. If the recipient has no bank account, there can be no attachment of the funds. Secondly, while there are attorneys who will work, on credit, for a criminal client who may probably end up in prison, finding one is another matter. Additionally, under current Federal law, an incarcerated person may lose all Federal benefit

payments during his incarceration. thus even had Defendant been able to persuade an attorney to represent him and take payments, he would likely have lost his sole source of income once imprisoned.

Defendant was also at a disadvantage regarding an attempt to locate an attorney who might have represented him without a retainer, as he was at the time incarcerated, and the Court refused to lower his bail beyond the already-reduced \$2,500.

Thus, with the approximately \$600 on his person when booked into the jail, (Transcript, Initial Appearance, P6, L11-22), Defendant was unable to post bond which would have given him the freedom to query attorneys and agencies who might have provided him with representation, and was unable to hire an attorney from the jail with a mere \$600 to offer as a retainer, which money was in the custody of the jail and unavailable to Defendant in any event. (Note: inmates generally may only make collect calls from within the facility, which makes it virtually impossible to contact offices where they are unknown.)

The trial Court expressed its opinion that, while Mr. Wallberg may have had inadequate funds for basic necessities, “[T]hat’s the same that all of us suffer through . . .” (Transcript, Initial Hearing, P14 L10)

When it was pointed out to the Court that the same Court had appointed the public defender in the past, the Court stated “ I think that I did that as, ah, facilitative and reserved the right to—to assess some or all of the attorneys fees in the event that . . . it’s determined that you are not eligible for 100 percent court-appointed counsel. And I would be willing to do that again, under these circumstances . . .” (Transcript, Initial Hearing, P9 L11)

The Court did not state what the guidelines for appointing counsel were at the time. There is a brief mention, by the Public Defender, Mr. Allred, that “Well it’s still—we’re still two or three–three hundred dollars past the limit on this count . . .” (Transcript, Initial Hearing, P13 L 12) At no time during the hearing did anyone refer to a guideline or clarify the “limit” referred to by the Public Defender.

Interestingly, the Court apparently initially was inclined to appoint counsel for Defendant (Transcript, Initial hearing, P13 L 3) until the Public Defender argued against the appointment and ultimately convinced the Court that Defendant was not entitled to his services. (Transcript, Initial Hearing, P14, L12).

In a perfect world, Defendant would indeed have been able to locate an attorney who would represent him at trial on a felony criminal charge, for little or no money up front, and a promise of payments, even in a rural area with few attorneys. However the reality was then, and is now, that such attorneys are practically non-existent unless one has a sensational case in which an organization such as the ACLU is interested.

State v Vincent, 883 P.2d 278 (Ut. 1994) was the standard for determining indigency at the time the instant case was before the District Court, in which the Court determined that the trial court’s decision as to whether or not the facts qualify a defendant as indigent, is reviewable for correctness.. The Utah Supreme Court in *Vincent* set forth a list of factors that should be considered in deciding indigency matters, which had been listed earlier in *Kelsey v Hanson*, 818 P.2d 590 (Ut. App. 1990) which included:

1. Employment status and earning capacity;

2. Financial aid from family or friends;
3. Financial assistance from state and federal programs;
4. A defendant's necessary living expenses and liabilities;
5. A defendant's unencumbered assets or disposition thereof; and
6. The borrowing capacity of a Defendant.

At Appellant's initial appearance, the Court merely inquired, first as to when Appellant was last employed (Transcript, Initial Hearing, P5 L7), and then as to whether or not Appellant was supporting his children from his Social Security payment of \$928 per month (Transcript, Initial Hearing, P5 L17; P7, L6-25; P8, L1-8). Once the Court determined that the children received separate payments, the Court refused to appoint counsel for Appellant.

Utah Code Annotated §77-32-202(3)(ii) defines indigency as having an income level at or below 150% of the United States poverty level. Subparagraph (i) defines indigency as when a person lacks sufficient means to provide for the payment of legal counsel and all other necessary expenses of representation *without depriving himself of food, shelter, clothing, and other necessities*.

The 1995 the United States poverty level for one individual was \$7470. 150% of that amount is \$11,205. Appellant's income at that time was \$928 per month, or \$11,136. Had the statute been in place at the time of Appellant's hearing, the Court would have been obligated to provide him with counsel, even without an inquiry into other matters.

Although *Vincent* concerned the right to counsel on appeal, the standards for determining indigency set forth therein can certainly be extended to the right to counsel at trial. The Utah Supreme Court, although reversing *Vincent*, agreed that the factors first set forth in *Kelsey* and then

used in *Vincent* were useful in evaluating indigency.

The trial Court failed to inquire about Appellant's situation beyond the amount of his monthly Social Security check and whether he was supporting his children on his \$928 monthly check.

It appears from the initial hearing that both the Court and the Public Defender simply did not want to deal with Appellant. The prosecutor, the Public Defender and the Court focused on the number of Appellant's children, where they lived, and whether Appellant's monthly income was being used to support them. When Appellant advised the Court that he had three to four hundred dollars per month expenses for medications, (Transcript, Initial Hearing, P8 L16), the Court brushed it aside with a comment that the Court believed Appellant's income precluded appointment of counsel. (Transcript, Initial Hearing, P8 L16)

At no time during the hearing did the Court, the prosecutor, or the Public Defender make reference to any standards for determining indigency. The sole inquiry, aside from the query regarding how Appellant's children were supported, was when Appellant was last employed. (Transcript, Initial Hearing, P5 L7). No inquiry was made as to living costs for Appellant, his living situation *vis a vis* whether he paid rent or lived with someone, what he paid - or did not pay - for utilities, what his monthly medical costs were. When Appellant tried to provide this information to the Court (Transcript, Initial Hearing, P14 L7), the Court's response was "[T]hat's the same that all of us suffer through" (Transcript, Initial Hearing, P14 L10).

CONCLUSION