1998

Utah v. James Scott Wallburg : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

ARGUMENT

**THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED DEFENDANT'S
REQUEST FOR COURT-APPOINTED COUNSEL**

In *State v. Vincent*, 883 P.2d 278, 282 (Utah 1994), the Utah Supreme Court held that the trial court should appoint counsel and provide necessary transcripts if payment of such by a defendant "would place an undue hardship on the defendant's ability to provide the basic necessities of life for the defendant and the defendant's family." The court in *Vincent* held that in making that determination, trial courts should consider:

"employment status and earning capacity; financial aid from family or friends, financial assistance from state and federal programs; [the defendant's] necessary living expenses and liabilities; [the defendant's] unencumbered assets, or any disposition thereof; and, the relative amount of court costs to be waived."

Id. at 283-84 (quoting *Kelsey v. Hanson*, 818 P.2d 590, 591-92 (Utah App. 1991)) (brackets in original and footnotes omitted). The Supreme Court refused to further define indigency, deeming it “unwise to rush to factual specificity as to what constitutes legal ‘indigency.’” *Id.* at 282. In “loosely defin[ing] indigency,” the high court “creat[ed], in the terms of the metaphor used in *Pena*, a rather broad pasture for trial judges applying the law of indigency to the facts before them.” *Id.* A review of the facts before the trial court here reveals that its decision was well within that “rather broad pasture.”

The trial court here learned that as a result of a disability, defendant received a social security check for \$928 each month. R. 09; R. 174: 5-6. Defendant listed eight dependents in his application for court-appointed counsel. R. 09. Upon inquiry at the hearing, the court learned that the eight dependents included seven children and defendant. R. 174: 5. When the court asked defendant whether he was currently paying for the support of those children, defendant responded in the affirmative. R. 174: 5. Upon further inquiry, however, and after the prosecutor stated her belief that some, if not all, of the children were in the State’s custody, defendant conceded that his children were in fact receiving separate payments from the federal government under his disability benefits for their support. *See* R. 174: 7-8.

In the Second Supplemental Brief of Appellant (Supp.2d), defendant contends that under federal law, “an incarcerated person may lose all Federal benefit payments during his incarceration, [and] thus even had [he] been able to persuade an attorney to represent him and take payments, he would likely have lost his sole source of income once imprisoned.” Supp.2d at 1-2. Defendant fails to cite any authority supporting that proposition, nor is there

any evidence in the record suggesting that he did not continue to receive those benefits through trial and beyond. *See* Supp.2d at 1-2. Federal law in fact provides that a social security recipient loses his eligibility for monthly disability benefits *only if* he is incarcerated or imprisoned as a result of a *conviction* or if he is otherwise confined after being adjudged incompetent to stand trial. 42 U.S.C. § 402(x)(1)(A) (1991 & Supp. II 1994). Accordingly, defendant would have been eligible to receive *at least* five more monthly disability payments benefits. *See* R. 73-74.¹

The court also considered the cash available to defendant at the time. In his application for court-appointed counsel, defendant listed \$600 as cash on hand or in banks. R. 09. However, at the indigency hearing on May 16, 1995, the prosecutor advised the court that jail personnel had informed her they had inventoried more than \$800 in cash from his wallet at the time of his arrest. *See* R. 174: 6. When questioned about the discrepancy, defendant conceded that “[i]t could have been approximately that” because he received his disability checks on the third day of the month. R. 174: 6.

In support of his application, defendant advised the court that he had to pay for food and rent and that he was required “to travel to California and to medical physicians for [his] disability.” R. 174: 8-9. He also asserted that he was required to pay his own prescription drugs which “sometimes” cost him three to four hundred dollars a month. R. 174: 8. Defendant did not, however, assert that he was required to pay that amount at that time, nor

¹In fact, defendant was not sentenced to prison until some three years later because he absconded from the initial sentencing. R. 73-74, 77.

did he identify any other immediate expenses. *See* R. 174: 8. Nevertheless, and apparently still uncertain as to defendant's financial responsibilities to his children, the trial court was prepared to appoint counsel. *See* R. 174: 13.

As the trial judge began to appoint counsel, however, a public defender present at the hearing, who had represented defendant in the past and who was aware of his financial situation, intervened. R. 174: 13. The public defender stated that defendant had a Medicaid card for medical expenses. R. 174: 14. He also confirmed that defendant's monthly disability check was not used for child support and he represented that defendant has "always had income." R. 174: 13. Defendant countered, volunteering for the first time that Medicare paid for 85 percent of doctors visits and the "hospital co-charges." R. 174: 14.

After hearing from the public defender, the trial court concluded that defendant was not entitled to court-appointed counsel. R. 174: 14. When defendant protested, the court observed that appropriate arrangements could be made with an attorney for payment. R. 174: 14. Defendant now contends that the court's decision was improper because the trial court incorrectly stated that an attorney could place a lien on defendant's social security check. Supp.2d at 1. Defendant cites to no authority supporting that proposition. *See* Supp.2d at 1. In any event, the court's reference to such a lien was merely used as an example for the court's general observation that procedures existed to assure attorneys of payment. *See* R. 174: 14.

Defendant also complains that it would have been difficult for him to locate an attorney while he was incarcerated. Supp.2d at 1-2. That claim is not substantiated by any

record evidence and has never been considered as a factor in determining indigency. Indeed, the difficulty in locating counsel because a defendant is incarcerated is irrelevant to defendant's ability to pay for counsel. Moreover, while incarceration may hamper a defendant's ability to secure an attorney, it does not prevent him from doing so, nor does it preclude him from securing an attorney with the assistance of friends or family.

Finally, defendant observes that the monthly disability check fell below 150% of the United States poverty level referenced in Utah Code Ann. § 77-32-202(3)(ii) (1999). Supp.2d at 4. That statute, however, was not in effect at the time of the hearing and therefore has no application. Moreover, based on defendant's figures, his annual disability benefits were only \$70 shy of exceeding 150% of the poverty level. *See* Supp.2d at 4.

* * *

Given defendant's monthly income of \$928, his available cash on hand of \$800, and his failure to substantiate any current expenses of an extraordinary nature, the trial court correctly navigated the "rather broad pasture" in "applying the law of indigency to the facts." *Vincent*, 883 P.2d at 282. As noted above, the expenses identified by defendant were vague and unsubstantiated. Defendant also failed to provide the information that was fatal in *Vincent*, conceding that he "d[id] [not] know how much counsel costs." R. 174: 14. As observed in *Vincent*, where no evidence is introduced showing the cost of counsel, "it is impossible to determine a defendant's ability to pay those expenses." *Vincent*, 883 P.2d at 284. Accordingly, defendant failed to meet his burden in establishing indigency, and absent

that evidence, the reviewing court cannot assume defendant was unable to pay for counsel.